



BULLETIN OF GEOGRAPHY. SOCIO-ECONOMIC SERIES

journal homepages: https://apcz.umk.pl/BGSS/index https://www.bulletinofgeography.umk.pl/

Land-use change and sustainability in the south-eastern oases of Morocco

Mariam Akdim^{1,CDMR}, Hamid Akdim^{2, DFPM}, Aboubakr Sabiri^{3, DFMR}, Anouar Alami^{4, CDM}

¹Sidi Mohamed Ben Abdellah University in Fez, Faculty of Sciences Dhar el Mahraz, B.P. 1796 Fès-Atlas,30003, Morocco, e-mail: mariam.akdim@usmba.ac.ma; ²Sidi Mohamed Ben Abdellah University in Fez, Faculty of Law, Economics and Social Sciences, BP 42, Fez 30000, Morocco, e-mail: hamid.akdim@usmba.ac.ma (corresponding author); ³Mohamed V University in Rabat, Faculty of Letters and Human Sciences, 3 Av. Ibn Batouta, Rabat, Morocco e-mail: aboubakr.sabiri@flsh.um5.ac.ma, https:// orcid.org/0000-0002-5154-7220; ⁴Sidi Mohamed Ben Abdellah University in Fez, Faculty of Sciences Dhar el Mahraz, B.P. 1796 Fès-Atlas, 30003, Morocco, e-mail: anouar.alami@usmba.ac.ma, https://orcid.org/0000-0002- 3951-9382

How to cite:

Akdim, M., Akdim, H., Sabiri, A. & Alami, A. (2023). Land-use change and sustainability in the south-eastern oases of Morocco. *Bulletin of Geography. Socio-economic Series*, 59(59): 95-109. DOI: http://doi.org/10.12775/bgss-2023-0007

Abstract. The study apprehends modern versus traditional land-use changes in the Moroccan oases. The traditional local knowledge and land-use that ensured ecological equilibrium for centuries is decreasing. Modern entrepreneuship practices are increasing and have risky environmental impacts.

By using the spatial and factor analyses, we confirm the spatial disparities in the region and distinguish four different groups of communes (in high mountain communes, traditional agriculture favors resources' conservation; downstream communes experience greater changes and ecological ruptures). The recommendations of the study include the need to rethink adopted development models and elaborate new actions that respect local specificities, consider environmental equilibrium and rehabilitate local ecosystems. Article details:

Received: 17 November 2022 Revised: 26 January 2023 Accepted: 17 February 2023

Key words:

cultural studies, environment & ecosystem, geography, planning & development, intellectual capital, oases, Morocco

Contents:

| 1. Introduction | 96 |
|---|-----|
| 2. Material and research methods | 96 |
| 2.1.Study area | 96 |
| 2.2. Materials and methodology | 98 |
| 3. Results and findings | 100 |
| 3.1. Factor analysis of the data | 100 |
| 3.2. Changes and upheavals in the oases' economies and environments | 103 |
| 4. Discussion and perspectives | 105 |
| 5. Conclusions and recommendations | 107 |
| Acknowledgement | 107 |
| References | 107 |

© 2023 (Mariam Akdim, Hamid Akdim, Aboubakr Sabiri, Anouar Alami) This is an open access article licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

1. Introduction

All over the world, most oases are presently under environmental stress (Postel, 1992). Desertification is activated by climate change, inducing water scarcity and land degradation. The recent negative impacts of climate change are confirmed in multiples oases over the world (Imaz-Lamadrid et., 2020). Verstraete et al. (2008) consider climate change to be a factor in the future degradation of drylands. Their environmental apprehension needs a comprehensive approach linking the study of environmental and socio-economic problems in drylands in an interdisciplinary way. In the past, the indigenous knowledge and inherited intellectual capital served balanced land use in oases (Davis, 2005; Brooks, 2006; Rusu-Tanas, 2015). The importance of intellectual capital in local sustainable development is recognized by several authors and international organizations (World Bank, 2006; OECD, 2013; Tian et al., 2018; Giustina et al., 2020; Popoola & Magidimisha, 2020). This heritage is progressively shifting (Fassi, 2017; Lavie & Anaïs, 2017). Inappropriate modes of resource exploitation contribute to land degradation and influence the business of local communities (Blaikie, 1973; Hakikur, 2006; Kamaoui, 2019).

In the Moroccan oases, a dynamic environmental equilibrium was achieved in the past due to specific local knowledge of environment (Blaikie, 1973; Daoud, 2001). The traditional agriculture includes historic agrosystems adapted by local societies to meet their nutritional and/or trading needs. They represent time-tested, sustainable approaches (Ellis and Wang, 2011). Traditional resources management in oases have favored practices that maintain agricultural biodiversity (Aksoy & Oz, 2020) and ecosystem rehabilitation (Madejón et al., 2011). It reinforces the connectivity of green landscapes (Skokanová et al., 2020) and sustains groundwater (Bouimouass et al., 2022). Such agrosytems in oases facilitate trans-Saharan trade and allowed the development of cities and historic business centers of visible cultural influence such as Tombouctou and Sijilmassa. However, successive droughts and recent socio-economic evolutions that neglect the benefits of natural resource renewal threaten the balanced equilibrium that has been built throughout the centuries (Bencherifa & Popp, 1992; Davis, 2005; Ait Hamza et al., 2010). Faced with modern technological growth in land use, a loss of skills for rational environmental adaptation is observed in the actors at several parts of oases. This is influenced by external inputs and investments. The fundamental

ecological equilibrium that had previously ensured land use sustainability and cultural landscapes in the oases is progressively being neglected. Current land uses, business models, technologies, visions and aspirations of residents are becoming different from those of the ancestral generations and are generating quite negative impacts on the environment (Thomas, 2008; Hamamouche et al., 2018). Indicators of contrasting sectors within selected oases in southeastern Morocco were investigated in the present research. We aim to understand the drivers, processes and spatial indicators of recent land-use change in oases. The apprehension of future trends is important in order to envision their potential agri-environments schemes and their roles in sustainability development.

Several questions were raised in this research:

- 1. How are the ongoing modern land use changes spatially structured?
- 2. How are they challenging environmental equilibrium and sustainability?
- 3. To what extent does the shifting traditional land use and way of life, in parallel to the growing modern investments and technologies introduced in oases, impact their environment?
- 4. Do these technologies and new investment methods create sustained wealth in oases?

The change indicators and drivers are studied considering their spatial distribution, temporal evolution and trends. How are they perceived by actors? A particular focus was put on identifying useful keys for future strategies and actions to reinforce ecosystems, improve water-use efficiency and achieve the sustainable development of oases.

2. Material and research methods

2.1. Study area

The studied area includes the overall territory of the Draa-Tafilalet region (Fig. 1), where several oases developed, especially along the "wadis" that drain the southern flanks of the High Atlas Mountain and its piedmont.

We focus on the Ziz, Ghris, Todgha, and Dades valleys, where observed dynamics of landuse change are significant but contrasted. Several sectors where traditional agriculture and inherited activities are still dominant in the upstream valleys, but downstream valleys are experiencing advanced modernization and urbanization. The demographic and socio-economic evolution and the ongoing



Fig. 1. Study area and its administrative framework Source: author

climatic changes are commonly drivers of landscape change (Haas, 2006; Sabiri, 2020). These changes are influencing land use and generating diverse rural territories.

To illustrate this diversity and demonstrate the recent deterioration in the balance of environments, the study focuses on several areas where preliminary fieldwork has shown evidence of contrasting characteristics, as follows:

(I) the areas of traditional and rural activities in valleys, including the isolated oases at the piedmont

of the Saghro Mountain and the southern flanks of the High Atlas. Most of them are less influenced by modern types of land use and sophisticated modes of resource exploitation. Techniques for conserving cultural heritage and resources are prevalent.

(II) the most modernized areas with new farming investments and recent extensions of the oases. Traditional agriculture is being considerably weakened and alternative activities such as trade, enterprise and other employment sectors with different modes of resource consumption are being developed. Rural communes representing such areas in the Ziz, Ghris, Dades, and Mgoun valleys are selected for study.

(III) transitional spaces, where land use is influenced by proximity to sectors deeply affected by modern changes but inherited practices are still dominant. The rural population is mainly concentrated in *douars* along mountain valleys and oases. The traditional economy is still maintained but several rural communes are experiencing modern activities, mainly small urban centers (Montasser, 1985; Carpentier & Gana, 2017).

The observed landscapes' diversity is due to several interactive factors that impact the spatial characteristics of the studied area. The landforms are highly differentiated in elevation, varying from 4000 meters on the upper Ighil Mgoun summits to approximately 1200 meters in the southern parts of the Atlas Mountain chain. A great geological and structural diversity was generated by several tectonic episodes, in particular during the Tertiary geological era. The climate type is arid to subarid in most parts of the region. The annual precipitation varies from less than 100 millimeters in the desert limits (south) to 500 millimeters around the Atlasic summits (north).

Water stress is seriously pressing everywhere. In several villages where traditional agriculture is still practiced, inhabitants tend to prefer emigration because of the lack of water for their farming activities and their derisory returns. The urban centers (Errachidia, Tineghir, Zagora, and Boumalne – Dades, for example) are, paradoxically, growing. They generate new needs in services and infrastructures. Even the public authorities are investing to satisfy these needs, though realized projects remain below the population's expectations. The new public and private investments are still unable to reduce social and spatial inequalities, emigration and the environmental crises observed in several rural and suburban areas. In this context, we consider that the recent changes in land use have serious impacts on society, landscapes and the environment. They have to be studied to find alternatives for the best future and the sustainable local development of oases.

2.2. Materials and methodology

In this study, two complementary research methods are adopted: the spatial approach and the factor analysis of data. The first approach aims to identify the landscape's biophysical and socio-economic units



Fig. 2. Photographs illustrating traditional land-use types in the upper Daes valley. Farming is balanced with water resources using small, irrigated parcels. Source: authors, 2021.

based on data collected from fieldwork, topographic maps, aerial photographs, and satellite images.

In the Dades oasis, we used aerial photographs at 1:40,000 scale taken in August 1996 (ACFCC, Zone 3). They are compared with satellite images illustrating landscape changes during the last two decades (2000-2020). The aerial photographs covering the Ziz valley are at a similar scale and were taken on September 4th, 1973 (ACFCC, ref. ST73). But we also used other more recent aerial photographs at 1:20,000 scale taken on February 14th, 1987. The comparison between aerial photographs and satellite images was significant in terms of the changes identified. Google Earth images were used to visualize the present-day situation in oases. A GIS database of land types was developed at 1:100,000 scale. The topographic impacts were generated using ArcGIS software.

Data collected during six field visits between 2016 and 2019 were exploited. Semi-structured interviews with representative actors (mainly farmers) were conducted. Qualitative and historic data were collected from 38 interviews in significant homogeneous sectors where approximately 5% of the residents were contacted in selected cases. These cases were chosen for their significance in illustrating the differences between the downstream, median and upstream sectors of the studied oases. Each interview is designed in respect of surveying standards (Fowler, 1995; Jong et al., 2017) to gather first-hand useful information on recent change indicators of land use and environment in oases.

The factor analysis of quantitative data issued from the last General Population and Habitat Census (RGPH, 2014) was adopted to apprehend data structures and correlations. Its main objective was to produce useful information to compare the contrasting areas and understand the oases' change dynamics, specificities and trends. As argued by Truong (2021), multivariate analysis is useful for classifying areas according to their level of sustainable development. The variables' correlation is analyzed based on a reduced number of latent factors that may be interpreted to explain the specific inherent data structures. Using the IBM SPSS statistics program, version 21, data on 44 rural communes were analyzed. Based on their socio-economic characteristics, these communes are sampled among rural communes that represent typical land use. In each commune, the socioeconomic variables inherent to the population activities are used to apprehend similarities and provide pertinent indicators to explore their significance in terms of land use, environmental impacts and change.

As previously confirmed by Luo et al. (2008) and King & Thomas (2014), combined approaches to land-use parameters are important because they adopt indicators of environmental change. They permit sound comparisons of variables in order to characterize landscape units and identify the modern-versus-traditional change dynamics. In this research, each data attribute used in the factor analysis is chosen due to its illustrative signifying of temporal and spatial changes of oases, their aspects, factors, and processes. The self traditional farming (AGSYPEC) indicates the importance of traditional agricultural activities in the oases and its spatial change. The number of qualified workers (OUVMANQUALI) reveals latent factors of land use and their potential impacts on the rural economy. The initial familial farming that rarely engages wage and salary workers is shifting in several sites. We used other attributes that are significant to apprehend the socio-economic and land-use changes, such as the employment importance in private enterprise activities other than in agriculture (EMPLOY), technicians and intermediate professions (TECHPI), craftsmen, and qualified workers in services (ARTIOUVQUALI), activities foresters and forest workers (EXPAGRIPECH) and public managers or senior executives of liberal professions (MElHDCEC). We are also interested in educators, health and social action employees (ADMPUBLIEDU) to apprehend factors of intellectual and human development and its potential impact on land use. Finally, we used the attribute of building (CONSTRUC) considering its links with habitat, which in certain circumstances are strong drivers of change with direct consequences

| Attributes | Description |
|--------------|---|
| AGSYPEC | Self traditional farmers |
| OUVMANQUALI | Workers in agriculture (qualified and unqualified) |
| EMPLOY | Employees (in private entreprises) |
| TECHPI | Technicians and intermediate professions |
| ARTIOUVQUALI | Craftsmen and qualified workers (excluding in agriculture) |
| EXPAGRIPECH | Foresters and related forest activities |
| CONSTRUC | Workers in building trades |
| MElHDCEC | Managers, members of the legislature, local elected representatives, hierarchical officials |
| | of the public and private service, directors and executives of companies, senior |
| | executives and members of the liberal professions |
| ADMPUBLIEDU | Educators, health and social action employees |

Table 1. List of data attributes used in factor analysis

Source: own elaboration

on the environment. These attributes are spatially interpreted in the light of landscapes' realities. Nine attributes were adopted in the factor analysis (Table 1).

The potential impacts of these drivers are apprehended considering their consumption of resources (mainly water and soil) and their impact on the environment.

The validity of sampling was tested using the statistical Kaiser–Meyer–Olkin (KMO) and Bartlett's sphericity tests. The final results were reviewed considering the realities of the field in each rural commune.

3. Results and findings

3.1. Factor analysis of the data

The 44 studied communes tend to form clearly distinct groups in which the dominant land use revealed by the socio-economic variables' correlations reflect typical (somehow homogeneous) areas, giving evidence to discuss the evolution of environmental equilibrium. The correlation matrix indicates that the variables are differently correlated, as some correlations are stronger than others (Table 2).

The KMO index indicates that the correlations between the items are qualitatively good. Barlett's sphericity test is very significant (p=0.000) (Table 3).

As the correlations are not all equal to zero, the analysis was continued. We calculate the contribution of the data attributes to the principal components to explore similarities between the studied rural communes, basing on these socioeconomic variables.

We note that the two first factors (components) have an eigenvalue greater than 1. (According to Kaiser's rule, only components with eigenvalues greater than 1 are retained.) We therefore consider them for analysis and interpretation. The first factor explains 60% of the total variance of the nine variables used in the analysis. Combined, the first and the second factors explain 79% of the variance.

The eigenvalue graph (Fig. 2) that illustrates where the Cattell elbow rupture is located, shows a change after the second factor.

The results confirm the findings in Table 4. We therefore retain the two factors 1 and 2 that will be interpreted to explain the data structure in the area. To interpret these two factors, we investigate the

| able 2. Correlation matrix | | | | | | | | | |
|----------------------------|----------|--------|--------|-------------|--------------|-------------|---------|----------|-------------|
| | MEIHDCEC | TECHPI | EMPLOY | EXPAGRIPECH | ARTIOUVQUALI | OUVMANQUALI | AGSYPEC | CONSTRUC | ADMPUBLIEDU |
| MElHDCEC | 1.000 | | | | | | | | |
| TECHPI | .607 | 1.000 | | | | | | | |
| EMPLOY | .301 | .479 | 1.000 | | | | | | |
| EXPAGRIPECH | 633 | 451 | 504 | 1.000 | | | | | |
| ARTIOUVQUALI | .205 | 014 | .366 | 549 | 1.000 | | | | |
| OUVMANQUALI | 489 | 344 | 520 | .784 | 755 | 1.000 | | | |
| AGSYPEC | 576 | 410 | 542 | .919 | 709 | .965 | 1.000 | | |
| CONSTRUC | .429 | .161 | .149 | 718 | .597 | 807 | 816 | 1.000 | |
| ADMPUBLIEDU | .785 | .772 | .491 | 603 | .225 | 543 | 599 | .394 | 1.000 |

Source: own elaboration

Table 3. Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) and Bartlett tests

| Kaiser–Meyer–Olkinmeasure of samplin | Kaiser–Meyer–Olkinmeasure of sampling Bartlett's test of sphericity | | |
|--------------------------------------|---|---------|--|
| | Approx. Chi-square | 591.345 | |
| Bartlett's test of sphericity | Dg | 36 | |
| | Sig Bartlett | .000 | |

Source: own elaboration



Source: authors, 2021.

combination of variables that are most associated with each of the significant factors in a rotational matrix. The results are presented in Table 5.

The main components are interpreted by searching the elements that are most strongly correlated with each component. The most distant from 0 in their positive or negative direction are of great explicatory value. A correlation value greater than 0.5 is considered important. In factor 1, the well-represented variables are OUVMANQUALI, AGSYPEC, ARTIOUVQUALI, CONSTRUC, EXPAGRIPECH, whose total correlations exceed 70%. This factor reflects qualified and unqualified employment in sectors of agriculture, crafts, and

building. Factor 2 is in the second position and represents the variables TECHPI, ADMPUBLIEDU, MEIHDCEC, EMPLOY that assemble persons working in the public administration, management, and services. Strong correlations are also observed in this factor (Fig. 4).

Figure 4 shows clearly the composition of the factors. Each point represents a variable on the diagram. On axis 1, the variables related to the building trades as well as those of traditional agriculture evolve in the opposite direction. These variables are not correlated with the administrative and management professions that make up axis 2.

| Common ont | | Initial eigenvalue | es | Extraction sums of squared loading | | | |
|---|-------|--------------------|--------------|------------------------------------|------------|--------------|--|
| Component | Total | % of variance | % cumulative | Total | % variance | % cumulative | |
| 1 | 5.404 | 60.040 | 60.040 | 3.865 | 42.941 | 42.941 | |
| 2 | 1.676 | 18.624 | 78.664 | 3.215 | 35.723 | 78.664 | |
| 3 | .850 | 9.450 | 88.114 | | | | |
| 4 | .349 | 3.873 | 91.987 | | | | |
| 5 | .300 | 3.329 | 95.316 | | | | |
| 6 | .191 | 2.123 | 97.439 | | | | |
| 7 | .134 | 1.486 | 98.925 | | | | |
| 8 | .097 | 1.073 | 99.998 | | | | |
| 9 | .000 | .002 | 100.000 | | | | |
| Extraction method: Principal Component Analysis | | | | | | | |

Table 4. Total variance explained by each factor

Source: own elaboration

The projection of the statistical units in the factorial plan Dim1-Dim2, shows four groups in the studied communes. Each is composed of communes that approximately share the same

Table 5. Rotated component matrix

| | Component | | | |
|--------------|-----------|------|--|--|
| | 1 | 2 | | |
| OUVMANQUALI | 893 | 359 | | |
| AGSYPEC | 878 | 451 | | |
| ARTIOUVQUALI | .877 | 034 | | |
| CONSTRUC | .855 | .167 | | |
| EXPAGRIPECH | 739 | 530 | | |
| TECHPI | 014 | .918 | | |
| ADMPUBLIEDU | .250 | .895 | | |
| MElHDCEC | .277 | .791 | | |
| EMPLOY | .332 | .550 | | |

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis; Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization; Rotation converged in three (3) iterations

Source: own elaboration

socio-economic characteristics and similar land use, as shown in Fig 5. These four groups are:

Group 1: Similar specificities in terms of position at the high mountain depressions favoring the conservation of traditional agricultural and forestry activities that consume limited water resources. Somewhat of an environmental equilibrium is still maintained. The traditional resource management in the area remains environmentally decent in most cases.

Group 2: Communes also distinguished by their geographic position in the mountains, but more administrative employees are observed in this group.

Group 3: Communes geographically located at the piedmont, in the interface zone between the mountain and the external plateaus in the south. Traditional agriculture is progressively shifting. The dominant activities are building, public administration, education, health and social action. Other activities related to institutions' members, local elected representatives, hierarchical public service officials, company directors and executives, senior executives and members of the liberal professions, technicians, intermediate professions,



Fig. 4. Projection of variables on the factorial plane Source: own elaboration



Fig. 5. Projection of statistical units (rural communes) on the factorial plane Source: own elaboration

and employees are also important in this group. In Fig. 4, we note the exception of Tazzarine that is observed among the communes of this group even though it is geographically far to the south. But its important proportion of managers, administration staff and migrants may explain this position as this criterion brings it close to group 3.

Group 4: Communes downstream, where traditional agriculture is in crisis due to the climatic conditions and the socio-economic and demographic parameters. As in group 3, the dominant characteristics of activities are linked to the building sector. A strong presence of craftsmen and skilled crafts workers is also observed. Paradoxically, in several communes of this group, several modern farms appear that are irrigated by pumped underground water.

The identification of the four groups of communes by factor analysis converges with the results of prior scientific studies, which have recognized contrasting socio-economic areas along the Mgoun, Dades, Todgha, and Ziz valleys (Bencherifa and Popp, 1992). Our study results give evidence of different environmental impacts of land use in each sector.

3.2. Changes and upheavals in the oases' economies and environments

As observed in the field, the groups of rural communes obtained from the factor analysis show the influencing processes of modernity in land use and landscapes in the selected communes. Each group's change depends on the geographic location and the intrinsic or exogenous factors. These factors are differently impacting land use and the inherited environmental equilibrium.

The fieldwork results confirm the fact that the environmental impacts of new farming techniques, building and new economic activities have caused profound landscape changes over the past four decades. Agricultural irrigation is facing water scarcity in communes of groups 3 and 4 in Fig. 5.

The increasing demand for drinking water in the fastest-growing agglomerations and the lack of sanitation networks are mentioned as recent problems by 40% of the interviewed persons in Boumalne Dades and Tinghir. This refers to the recent impacts that urban extension, international migration income, communication technologies and the intrusion of new farming practices that consume resources have had on the local economy. Such problems are still unnoticed in the upper parts of the oases, where traditional rurality still dominates.

In most communes, pressure on resources is observed, but in communes of group 4 mentioned above the environmental stress is very high. For several decades, traditional agriculture has been decreasing as other economic activities have been developing. Demography, socio-economic factors, modern techniques in water pumping, and water consumption by domestic equipment are major factors driving change. Locally, new modern agriculture has grown outside the traditional oases, as observed at the vicinity of Zagora (watermelon farms) or "*Mejhoul*" date farms recently created between Errachidia and Boudenib (Fig. 6).

Between Boudenib and Errachidia, the underground water from the Cretaceous aquifer is pumped by modern techniques to irrigate these farms. This type of agriculture is developing while traditional rangelands decrease. Thus, large modern farms have appeared on dozens of hectares in many pre-Saharan sites, outside traditional oases. The farms are irrigated by groundwater pumping and exploited using modern farming techniques that, in some cases, do not take into account ecosystem vulnerability, scarcity of water resources or sustainable ecological balances. Thirty percent of interviewed oasis residents declare that the crisis is deeper and say "anarchy" and the modern exploitation of resources are dominating.

New farming productions irrigated by pumped underground water are also developing in the



Fig. 6. Photographs illustrating new capitalist-type farms on the Hamada of Meski south of Errachidia: A – Pumping station from the cretaceous aquifer in Errachidia region; B – B. New young palm farms of "Mejhoul" irrigated by pumped underground water Source: Laaouane, 2017



Fig. 7. New private modern agricultural investments near Zagora in Draa, A – Underground water pumping station for the irrigation of commercial crops (watermelon, henna, etc.); B – Modern agricultural irrigation in new farms of the arid land between Tazarine and Zagora Source: Authors, 2019

A

desert in the Zagora province (Fig. 7). Watermelon production is a significant example. In 2008, it was non-existent in the area, but it rapidly developed to cover 725 hectares in 2012 and 2,500 ha in 2014 (ORADO, 2014).

The illiterate population in rural areas remains dominant in most studied rural agglomerations. The results of the *General Population and Habitat Census* of 2014, show that the illiterate population varies between 27 to 52% in oasis villages. The rate of Internet use by the population is almost 22% throughout all the communes under study.

4. Discussion and perspectives

Mutations in society, economy and landscapes are creating contrasted units in oases. Innovations are centered in the south but they are rapidly and progressively extending to the north following a "pseudo-contagious" diffusion pattern previously framed by innovation diffusion theory (Blaikie, 1973; Rogers, 1983). We expect greater consumption of water to meet modern agricultural irrigation and urban drinking-water needs in the future. Oases will experience more risks of desertification. However, the traditional rurality is still impressive in the uplands, where subsistence agriculture is often practiced.

As documented in Tunisia (Rodríguez-Caballero et al., 2017), so too in the Moroccan oases, the expansion of irrigated oases is becoming spectacular. The phenomenon appeared two decades ago (Daoud, 2001) and expansion is currently accelerating. Recently, new agricultural investments have been appearing in managed sectors irrigated by pumped underground water. Many interviewees (70%) agree that such actions are risky and may destroy the achieved environmental balance. The new sectors of modern farming exploitation (desert farms) are often managed by investors, who neglect the conservative rules of the millennial Intellectual Capital accumulated by the oasis communities. The environmental conservation perspectives in oases are therefore critical under such a development model. Practices and techniques that do not respect the environment engender irreversible and unintentional destruction of interactive local ecological systems, as studied in similar contexts in Central Asia (Hu et al., 2020). The conservational and intangible capital use of resources in local development are marginalized, despite their important role in human adaptation to arid environments and in developing social risk strategies (Blanco & Carrière, 2016). Such strategies are factors of land degradation and desertification (Seif-Ennasr et al., 2016). The three main observed types of change are:

- the expansion of oases outside the traditional irrigated valleys. This change is more evident downstream in most oases.
- the modernization of oases is observed mainly in groups 3 and 4 above. It is evident in building activities and outcomes, farming techniques, and socio-economic characteristics. This change is strongly affecting the oases downstream and is progressively extending to middle (central) sectors inside the mountain domain. Such phenomena are still very rare upstream.
- the spatial, socio-economic, and environmental contrasts in different oases are growing. These changes are noticeable due to the demographic increase, the urban development and modernization modern practices and other change drivers. A population of approximately 1,635,008 inhabitants in 2014 (2% of the national population) spans all of the oases in the region.

The use of intangible capital to develop regions is very important (Chauffour, 2017). But it is weakened by the ongoing mutations in the oases. The education level of the rural population is commonly low, and its Intellectual Capital is deeply altered by modernity, technology and general misuse of resources.

Despite the modern technological growth observed in this area, it has not greatly improved the average cumulative Intellectual Capital of the population because their low level of education prevents them from taking advantage of these facilities in terms of choosing pertinent land use for sustainable development. Illiteracy is pervasive in rural areas. Thirty-two percent of the interviewees confirm that the Intellectual Capital of residents has progressively declined, despite the technological growth of communication tools and the modern localized investments in farming outside the extension of oases. It is worth mentioning that inherited ancestral environmental awareness is weakening and the oases are facing the critical environmental effects of modern land use in, for example, habitat projects, agriculture, irrigation techniques and tourism.

The present research findings confirm that the new land-use types and modern technologies locally introduced in oases, the extension of agglomerations, and new agricultural irrigation techniques based on pumping in selected sites are often ignoring sustainability paradigms. Most farmers have low adaptive capacities and a low level of education. The inherited dynamic environmental equilibrium of oases is under stress and should be considered for prospective rural planning and sustainable development.

The migrants and emerging elites of oasis tourism are other new impacting facts. As tourism creates new jobs and job profiles such as caravan organizer, transporter, activity leader, and heritage interpreter, it is a major driver of sociocultural change in oases.

This study's outcomes show that the current oasis environment, mainly downstream, has dramatically changed due to modern mutations in economy, society, quality of life, building, urban areas, services, and some modern investments. The new oasis context is characterized by progressive technological growth that should be sustainability oriented. The marginal communities disadvantage model discussed by Hakikur (2006) is confirmed. The low level of education we noted among peasants aged over 15 years and the pervasive illiteracy in rural areas is a constraint that does not favor innovation in terms of conservational alternatives regarding natural resources. The change is commonly perceived as a stress by the population (Fig. 8).

The landscape, socio-economic and environmental changes are observed everywhere but they are slow in the upstream zones. The Mgoun upper valleys are less affected by some new activities such as building and services, but they are changing due to climatic change and deforestation. The median sectors of the studied oases, especially in the Todgha and Ziz valleys, are progressively influenced by modern infrastructures and new economic activities (mainly tourism), but traditional agriculture is still active. Anthropic action and strong change processes are observed downstream.

Considering these very contrasting characteristics of oases, the palliative measures must be specific to each sector. They can be preventive, corrective or mitigating, according to local needs in each case.

Development could be made in accordance with the requirements of sustainable development based on the knowledge economy, the proper use of technology, and the conservational valuing of resources. The natural resources, land use and landscape have to be managed by awareness to avoid the tragedy of the commons theorized by Hardin (1968) and Bezin and Gregory (2019).

Urgent preventive and corrective measures are necessary to reverse the observed harmful trends and engage new strategic actions to seize the niches of potential development that fit with local culture and local vocations of oases, without disturbing the environmental equilibrium. These were basic elements that contributed to perpetuating harmony in landscapes and the balanced renewal of resources for centuries. It would be difficult to restore the situation and establish a new order without very intense public intervention and the commitment of local actors (governmental and private). The disappearance of traditional solidarity structures and the increased domination of privateprofit transactions are new problematic issues that should be addressed by the government and other concerned actors. The roles and responsibilities of actors should be redefined considering ways of



Fig. 8. Perceived change in different sectors of the studied oases Source: Authors,

strengthening the environmental balances and the sustainability of implemented development.

5. Conclusions and recommendations

The study reveals important land-use changes underway in several parts of the studied oases. Four different groups were identified using a factor analysis of their socio-economic characteristics. The environmental equilibrium and resources are under stress, mainly downstream and at the piedmonts, where modern activities and building extension are taking place. Despite the recent local modernizations in farming, building and doing business, the negative trends in the oasis environment are problematic.

Recently, several actors have been neglecting the ecological fundamentals that have ensured the sustainability of these landscapes that are full of cultures and traditional civilization. The new business styles, visions and aspirations of the new generations are different from ancestral practices and seem to have negative impacts on sustainability and the environmental equilibrium. The unintentional destruction in interactive local ecological systems is very complex to manage and may be irreversible in some cases.

Among the practical implications of the study, we underline the hazardous types of land use downstream. To address the changes in oases, no radical, immediate solutions exist, but strategies for the future could be developed in an integrative global vision, using motivations, restrictive or coercive actions and more participation by concerned actors in the conservation and sustainable development of the oases.

Trends of modernization within the oases must be framed in the future by a sustainability perspective in which economic and technologic development and human activities will operate in harmony with issues of environmental equilibrium and heritage protection.

Finally, it is worth mentioning that some limitations to the change study in oases were noted because the changing processes involve multiple factors and are complex. Given the data at our disposal, the regional scale was adopted in the study, although we are confident that a more detailed scale (provincial or local) and a larger sample may be pertinent to study the socio-economic parameters. Prospective research may be done to overcome these limitations and explain the theoretical and practical implications of the change in oases and their identified spatial contrasts.

Several recommendations are underlined in the study: (1) The adopted development models of oases and drylands need to be rethought, in order to elaborate new actions that respect local specificities. (2) There is an important role for anticipating environmental risks in major new farming projects, due to their vulnerable context. Anticipation is needed to balance the ongoing change processes in oases according to the fundamentals of environmental equilibrium. (3). Urgent priority actions are needed to rehabilitate the disturbed ecosystems and avoid environmental ruptures. 4) Based on the environmental risk signals described in this study, further research into the development sustainability perspectives in oases remain pertinent in the future.

Acknowledgement

The logistic support of the University Sidi Mohamed Ben Abdellah, Fez is appreciated.

References

- Aït Hamza, M., El Faskaoui, B. & Fermin, A. (2010). Les oasis du Drâa au Maroc: Rupture des équilibres environnementaux et stratégies migratoires (The Drâa oases in Morocco: environmental imbalances and migratory strategies- in French). *Hommes et Migrations*, 1284: 56-69. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4000/hommesmigrations.1241.
- Aksoy, Z. & Oz, O. (2020).Protection of traditional agricultural knowledge and rethinking agricultural research from farmers' perspective: A case from Turkey. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 80: 291–301. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jrurstud.2020.09.017.
- Bencherifa, A. & Popp, H. (1992). L'oasis de Figuig, persistance et changement (The oasis of Figuig, persistence and change- in French). Série Essais et Etudes, 13, Rabat: Université Mohamed.
- Bezin E. & Gregory P. (2019). The tragedy of the commons and socialization: theory and policy. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, 98: 102260. DOI: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jeem.2019.102260.
- Blaikie, P.M. (1973). The spatial structure of information networks and innovative behaviour in the Ziz valley, Southern Morocco. *Geografiska Annaler*, 55: 83-105. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/04353684.1973.11879380.
- Blanco, J. & Carrière, S.M. (2016). Sharing local ecological knowledge as a human adaptation strategy to arid environments: Evidence from an ethnobotany survey in

Morocco. Journal of Arid Environments, 127: 30-43. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jarideny.2015.10.021.

- Bouimouass, H., Fakir, Y., Tweed, S., Sahraoui H., Leblanc, M. & Chehbouni, A. (2022). Traditional irrigation practices sustain groundwater quality in a semiarid piedmont. *Catena*, 210: 105923. DOI: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.catena.2021.105923.
- Brooks, N. (2006). Cultural responses to aridity in the Middle Holocene and increased social complexity. *Quaternary International*, 151: 29–49. DOI: 10.1016/j. quaint.2006.01.013.
- **Carpentier, I. & Gana, A.** (2017). Changing agricultural practices in the oases of southern Tunisia; conflict and competition for resources in a post –revolutionary and globalisation context. In: Lavie E. and Marshall A. (eds), Oases and Globalisation, ruptures and continuities. Springer.
- Chauffour, J.P. (2017). Morocco 2040, emerging by Investing in Intangible Capital. Washington: World Bank Group.
- Daoud, M. (2001). La moyenne vallée du Ziz: Une oasis entre tradition et modernité (The middle Valley of ziz: an oasis between tradition and modernity- in French). Thèse détat, El Jadida: Université Chouaib Doukkali.
- Davis, D.K. (2005). Indigenous knowledge and the desertification debate: problematising expert knowledge in North Africa. *Geoforum*, 36: 509-524. DOI: 10.1016/j. geoforum.2004.08.003.
- Ellis, E.C. & Wang, S.M. (1997). Sustainable Traditional Agriculture in the Tai Lake Region of China. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 61: 177-193.
- Fassi, D. (2017). Les oasis du Monde, carrefour des civilisations et modèle fondamental de durabilité (The oases in the world, crossroads of civilizations and fundamental model of sustainability- in French). *Cahiers Agricultures*, 26: 46001. DOI: 10.1051/cagri/2017037
- Fowler, F.J. (1995). Improving survey questions: design and evaluation. Applied Social Research Methods Series. New Delhi: SAGE Publications, London.
- Jonge, T. de, Ruut, V. & Kalmijn, W. (2017). Diversity in Survey: Questions on the Same Topic, Techniques for Improving Comparability. Springer, Switzerland: International Publishing AG, Cham.
- Giustina, S.V., N., Pasquale, D.V. & Gianluigi, D.P. (2020). Sustainable development, Intellectual Capital and technology policies: A structured literature review and future research agenda. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*, 153: 1-21. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. techfore.2020.119917.
- Haas, H. de (2006). Migration, remittances and regional development in Southern Morocco. *Geoforum*, 37: 565– 580. DOI: 10.1016/j.geoforum.2005.11.007.

- Hakikur, R. (ed), (2006). Empowering marginal communities with information networking. London: Idea Group Publishing.
- Hamamouche, M., Farah, K. M., Amichi, H., Lejars, C. & Ghodbani, T. (2018). New reading of Saharan agricultural transformation: Continuities of ancient oases and their extensions (Algeria). World Development, 107: 210–223. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2018.02.026.
- Hardin, G. (1968). The Tragedy of the Commons. *Science*, 162: 1243-1248. DOI: 10.1126/science.162.3859.1243.
- Hart, S. (1995). A natural resource-based view of the firm. Academy of Management Review, 20: 986-1014. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2307/258963.
- Hu, Y., Han, Y. & Zhang, Y. (2020). Land desertification and its influencing factors in Kazakhstan. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 180: 104203. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaridenv.2020.104203.
- Imaz-Lamadrid, M.A., Wurl, J., Arizpe-Covarrubias, O. & Romero-Vadillo, E. (2020). Deterioration of oases subject to climate change and coastal development: The case of Todos Santos Oasis, Baja California Sur, Mexico. Groundwater for Sustainable Development, 11: 100401. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gsd.2020.100401.
- Kamaoui, A. (2019). Drought and desertification in Moroccan Pre-Sahara, Draa valleys: exploring from the perspective of young people. *Geoenvironmental Disasters*, 6: 2-13. DOI: 10.1186/s40677-019-0118-8.
- King, C. & David, S.G.T. (2014). Monitoring environnemental change and degradation in the irrigated oases of northern Sahara. *Journal of Arid land*, 103: 36-45. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2013.12.009.
- Lacroix, M. & Zambon, S. (2002). Capital intellectuel et création de valeur: une lecture conceptuelle des pratiques française et italienne (Intellectual capital and value creation: a conceptual reading of French and Italian practices- in French). *Comptabilité - Contrôle – Audit*, 3: 61-83.
- Lavie, E. & Anaïs M. (2017). Oases and globalisation: ruptures and continuities. , Switzerland: Springer, Cham.
- Luo, G.P., Zhou, C.H., Chen, X. & Li, Y. (2008). A methodology of characterizing status and trend of land changes in oases: A case study of Sangong River watershed, Xinjiang, China. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 88: 775–783. DOI: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2007.04.003.
- Madejón, P., Barba-Brioso, C., Lepp, N.W. & Fernández-Caliani, J.C. (2011).Traditional agricultural practices enable sustainable remediation of highly polluted soils in Southern Spain for cultivation of food crops. *Journal* of Environmental Management, 92(7): 1828-1836. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2011.03.007.
- Montasser, E.M. (1985). Collectivités traditionnelles et espaces ruraux montagnards dans les zones d'arrièrepays atlasiques méridionaux: le cas des Ayt Sedrate du

Dadss (Traditional communities and rural mountain areas in hinterland areas southern atlases: the case of the Ayt Sedrate du Dadss- in French). Phd dissertation, Geography, Aix-Marseille University.

- OCDE (2013). Nouvelles sources de croissance: le capital intellectuel, nouvelles bases et conclusions pour l'action gouvernementale. Paris. Available at: https://www.oecd. org/fr/rcm/C-MIN(2013)6-FRE.pdf.
- ORADO (Ouarzazate Regional Agricultural Development Office) (2014). Annual activity report.
- Popoola, A.A. & Magidimisha, H.H. (2020). The Dilemmas of Rural Planning and Planners in Oyo State, Nigeria. *Bulletin of Geography. Socio-economic Series*, 47: 75–93. DOI: http://doi.org/10.2478/bog-2020-0005.
- **Postel, S.** (1992). The last oasis: Facing water scarcity. London, NY: Earthscan, Taylor and Francis.
- Rodríguez-Caballero, E., Yolanda, C., Mohamed M. & Solé-Benet, A. (2017). Irrigated land expansion since 1985 in Southern Tunisia. *Journal of African Earth Sciences*, 129: 146-152. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jafrearsci.2016.12.019.
- **Rogers, E.M.** (1983). Diffusion of Innovations. 3d Edition, NY., USA: Free Press.
- Rusu-Tanas, M. (2015). Intellectual Capital a Strategic Factor of Socio-Economic Development of Regions and Countries. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 27: 369-374. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2212-5671(15)01008-4.
- Sabiri, A. (2020). Les systèmes oasiens: aspects d'innovations et perspectives du développement durable (Oasis systems: aspects of innovation and prospects for sustainable development - in French). FLSH, , Rabat: Université Mohamed V.
- Seif-Ennasr, M., Zaaboul, R., Hirich, A., Caroletti, G.N., Bouchaou, L., El Morjani, Z.E.A., Beraaouz, E., McDonnell, R. & Choukr-Allah, R. (2016). Climate change and adaptive water management measures in Chtouka Aït Baha region (Morocco). Science of the Total Environment, 573: 862–875. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2016.08.170.
- Skokanová, H., Netopil P., Havlíček, M. & Šarapatka, B. (2020). The role of traditional agricultural landscape structures in changes to green infrastructure connectivity. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 302: 107071. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2020.107071.
- Thomas, R.J. (2008). Opportunities to reduce the vulnerability of dryland farmers in Central and West Asia and North Africa to climate change. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 126: 36-45. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. agee.2008.01.011.
- Truong, V.C. (2021). Multivariate classification of provinces of Vietnam according to the level of sustainable development. Bulletin of Geography. Socio-Economic Series, 51: 109-122. DOI: http://doi.org/10.2478/bog-2021-0009.

- Verstraete, M.M., Brink, A.B., Scholes, R.J., Beniston, M. & Smith M.S. (2008). Climate change and desertification: Where do we stand, where should we go? *Global* and Planetary Change, 64: 105–110. DOI: 10.1016/j. gloplacha.2008.09.003.
- World Bank (2006). Where is the wealth of nations? measuring capital for the 21st century. Report 84355, Washington.

